
 

COMMITTEE: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

VENUE: King Edmund Chamber - 
Endeavour House, 8 Russell 
Road, Ipswich 
 

DATE: Wednesday, 22 August 2018 
9.30 am 

 
Conservative 

Group 
 

Independent 
Group 

 

Independent 
Conservative 

Group 

Liberal 
Democrat 

Group 

Labour 
Group 

Babergh 
Unionists 

Group 

Peter Beer - C 
Michael Creffield 
Michael Holt - VC  
Jennie Jenkins  
Adrian Osborne  
Lee Parker  
Ray Smith  
 

Clive Arthey  
Stephen Plumb  
David Rose  
 

John Hinton 
 

David 
Busby 

Luke 
Cresswell 

Sue Burgoyne 

 
The Council, members of the public and the press may record/film/photograph or 
broadcast this meeting when the public and the press are not lawfully excluded.  Any 
member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to being filmed should advise the 
Committee Clerk. 

A G E N D A  

PART 1 

ITEM  BUSINESS 

 Page(s) 

 
1   SUBSTITUTES AND APOLOGIES  

 
Any Member attending as an approved substitute to report giving 
his/her name and the name of the Member being substituted. 
 
To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

2   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
Members to declare any interests as appropriate in respect of items 
to be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

3   TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 25 
JULY 2018 - TO FOLLOW  
 

 

4   TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE COUNCIL'S PETITION SCHEME  
 

 

Public Document Pack



ITEM  BUSINESS 

 Page(s) 

 

 
5   SITE INSPECTIONS  

 
In addition to any site inspections which the Committee may 
consider to be necessary, the Corporate Manager – Growth and 
Sustainable Planning will report on any other applications which 
require site inspections.  
 
The provisional date for any site inspections is Wednesday 29 
August 2018.  
 

 

6   PL/18/9 PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY 
THE COMMITTEE  
 
An Addendum to Paper PL/18/9 will be circulated to Members prior 
to the commencement of the meeting summarising additional 
correspondence received since the publication of the agenda but 
before 12 noon on the working day before the meeting, together with 
any errata. 
 

1 - 4 

a   DC/18/01384 Shotley Pier, Queen Victoria Drive, Shotley  5 - 22 
 
b   DC/18/00978 The Street, Capel St Mary  23 - 32 

 
c   DC/18/02601 Kingfisher Leisure Centre, Station Road, Sudbury  33 - 38 

 
 
 
Notes:  

1. The next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday 19 September 2018 commencing at 

9.30 a.m. 

2. Where it is not expedient for plans and drawings of the proposals under consideration 
to be shown on the power point, these will be displayed in the Council Chamber prior to 
the meeting. 

3. The Council has adopted Public Speaking Arrangements at Planning Committees, a 
link is provided below: 

 Public Speaking Arrangements (pdf) 

Those persons wishing to speak on an application to be decided by Planning Committee 
must register their interest to speak no later than two clear working days before the 
Committee meeting, as detailed in the Public Speaking Arrangements (adopted 30 
November 2016). 

The registered speakers will be invited by the Chairman to speak when the relevant item is 
under consideration.  This will be done in the following order:   

 A representative of the Parish Council in whose area the application site is located to 

express the views of the Parish Council; 

http://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9658/20161130BDCPublicSpeakingArrangementsADOPTED30112016.docx.pdf


ITEM  BUSINESS 

 Page(s) 

 

 An objector; 

 A supporter; 

 The applicant or professional agent / representative; 

 County Council Division Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee on 

matters pertaining solely to County Council issues such as highways / education; 

 Local Ward Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee. 

Public speakers in each capacity will normally be allowed 3 minutes to speak. 

Local Ward Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee are allocated a 
maximum of 5 minutes to speak. 

 



 

 
Introduction to Public Meetings 

 
Babergh/Mid Suffolk District Councils are committed to Open Government.  The 
proceedings of this meeting are open to the public, apart from any confidential or exempt 
items which may have to be considered in the absence of the press and public. 
 
For more information about this meeting, including access arrangements and facilities for 
people with disabilities, please contact the Governance Officer on: 01473 296372 or Email: 
committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk 

 

 
Domestic Arrangements: 
 

 Toilets are situated opposite the meeting room. 

 Cold water is also available outside opposite the room. 

 Please switch off all mobile phones or turn them to silent. 
 

 
Evacuating the building in an emergency:  Information for Visitors: 
 
If you hear the alarm: 
 
1. Leave the building immediately via a Fire Exit and make your way to the Assembly 

Point (Ipswich Town Football Ground). 
 
2. Follow the signs directing you to the Fire Exits at each end of the floor. 
 
3. Do not enter the Atrium (Ground Floor area and walkways).  If you are in the Atrium 

at the time of the Alarm, follow the signs to the nearest Fire Exit. 
 
4. Use the stairs, not the lifts. 
 
5. Do not re-enter the building until told it is safe to do so. 

 

 

 
 

mailto:committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk


Planning Committee 
22 August 2018 

 
 
 

         PL/18/9 
 

 
 

BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

22 AUGUST 2018 
 

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE 
 

Item Page 
No. 

Application No. Location Officer Decision 

 
APPLICATIONS REQUIRING REFERENCE TO PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

1. 5 – 22 DC/18/01384 
SHOTLEY – Shotley Pier, Queen 
Victoria Drive 

LB  

2. 23 – 32 DC/18/00978 
CAPEL ST MARY – Methodist 

Church, The Street 
SS  

3. 33 – 38 DC/18/02601 
SUDBURY – Kingfisher Leisure 
Centre, Station Road 

DG  

      

      

 
 
 
Philip Isbell 
Corporate Manager – Growth and Sustainable Planning 
 
 
  

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Planning Committee 
22 August 2018 

 

 
BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS MADE UNDER THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 
1990, AND ASSOCIATED LEGISLATION, FOR DETERMINATION OR RECOMMENDATION BY 
THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
This Schedule contains proposals for development which, in the opinion of the Corporate Manager 
– Growth and Sustainable Planning, do not come within the scope of the Scheme of Delegation to 
Officers adopted by the Council or which, although coming within the scope of that scheme, she/he 
has referred to the Committee to determine. 
 
Background Papers in respect of all of the items contained in this Schedule of Applications are: 
 
1.  The particular planning, listed building or other application or notification (the reference 

number of which is shown in brackets after the description of the location). 
 
2.  Any documents containing supplementary or explanatory material submitted with the 

application or subsequently. 
 
3.  Any documents relating to suggestions as to modifications or amendments to the application 

and any documents containing such modifications or amendments. 
 
4.  Documents relating to responses to the consultations, notifications and publicity both 

statutory and non-statutory as contained on the case file together with any previous planning 
decisions referred to in the Schedule item. 

 
DELEGATION TO THE CORPORATE MANAGER - GROWTH AND SUSTAINABLE PLANNING 
 
The delegated powers under Minute No 48(a) of the Council (dated 19 October 2004) includes the 
power to determine the conditions to be imposed upon any grant of planning permission, listed 
building consent, conservation area consent or advertisement consent and the reasons for those 
conditions or the reasons to be imposed on any refusal in addition to any conditions and/or reasons 
specifically resolved by the Planning Committee. 
 
PLANNING POLICIES 
 
The Development Plan comprises saved polices in the Babergh Local Plan adopted June 2006.  The 
reports in this paper contain references to the relevant documents and policies which can be viewed 
at the following addresses: 

 
The Babergh Local Plan:  http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/adopted-
documents/babergh-district-council/babergh-local-plan/ 
 
National Planning Policy Framework: 
 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf  

  

Page 2

http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/adopted-documents/babergh-district-council/babergh-local-plan/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/adopted-documents/babergh-district-council/babergh-local-plan/
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf


Planning Committee 
22 August 2018 

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED IN THIS SCHEDULE 
 
 
 
AWS Anglian Water Services 
 
CFO County Fire Officer 
 
LHA Local Highway Authority 

EA Environment Agency 

EH English Heritage 

NE Natural England 

HSE Health and Safety Executive 

MoD Ministry of Defence 

PC Parish Council 

PM Parish Meeting 

SPS Suffolk Preservation Society 

SWT Suffolk Wildlife Trust 

TC Town Council 

 

 

 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Committee Report   

Ward: Berners.   

Ward Members: Cllr Peter Patrick. Cllr Derek Davis. 

    

 

RECOMMENDATION – GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION WITH CONDITIONS 

 

 

Description of Development 

Planning Application - Alterations to the Pier including provision of two buildings for 

Community/Volunteer facility. 

 

Location 

Shotley Pier, Queen Victoria Drive, Shotley, Ipswich Suffolk IP9 1PU 

 

Parish: Shotley   

Expiry Date: 25/05/2018 

Application Type: FUL - Full Planning Application 

Development Type: Minor All Other 

Applicant: Shotley Heritage Charitable Community Benefit Society Ltd 

Agent: Wincer Kievenaar Architects Limited 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to Planning Committee for the purposes of public transparency. 
 
A Member of the Council had requested that the application be determined by the appropriate Committee 
and the request was made in accordance with the Planning Charter or such other protocol / procedure 
adopted by the Council.  
 
The Delegation Panel met on 11 June 2018 to consider the Ward Member’s request to refer this planning 
application to Planning Committee. The Panel considered the comments of Councillor Davis who attended 
the Panel meeting. It was noted that the Pier had previously been the subject of relevant planning history 
albeit to a planning permission for a different design and layout, involving a lesser built structure and extent. 
After discussion, the Panel considered that this scheme was not likely to introduce significant new policy, 
consistency or other material considerations in the context of that history. It was nevertheless recognised 
that the application is of local significance, that opinions are strongly being voiced locally and that grant 
funding by BDC is not a planning consideration. The Panel concluded, having regard to the planning 
history, that the application did not involve significant policy issues, matters of consistency or other material 
considerations. A decision on the application was not felt to be of more than local significance. On that 
basis it was agreed that the application would proceed to be determined under delegation. 
 
  

Item No: 1 Reference: DC/18/01384 
Case Officer: Lynda Bacon 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6a



 

 

However, it was subsequently agreed with the Assistant Director – Planning for Growth, that the application 
should be reported to Planning Committee for the purposes of public transparency. This is on the basis 
that significant amounts of officer time (largely from the Communities team), and a grant of £20,000, have 
been provided by the Council towards the broader project. This falls outside of the kind of consideration 
that the Delegation Panel would have regarding whether it has wider policy implications, and as such a 
decision to send it for reasons of transparency would not undermine the decision of the panel.  
 
Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions and any Member site visit 

 

The application was subject to a Committee site visit on the 15th August 2018. 
 
 

PART TWO – POLICIES AND CONSULTATION SUMMARY  
 

 
Summary of Policies 
 
NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework 
CS01 - Applying the presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development in Babergh 
CS02 - Settlement Pattern Policy 
CS15 - Implementing Sustainable Development 
CS16 - Town, Village and Local Centres 
CS17 - The Rural Economy 
CN01 - Design Standards 
EM20 - Expansion/Extension of Existing Employment Uses 
RE06 - Small and Medium - Scale Recreation 
RE14 - Stour & Orwell Estuaries 
TP15 - Parking Standards - New Development 
 
Consultations and Representations 
 
During the course of the application Consultation and Representations from third parties have been 
received. These are summarised below. 
 
A: Summary of Consultations 
 
Shotley Parish Council 
Parish Council members are unable to support the application in its current state but are willing to consider 
it again once the issues raised were looked into and addressed; it was resolved to reserve judgement until 
new design parameters were provided, as the current design was excessively modern when preference 
was clearly for a Victorian style pier; there were still concerns about the length/scale which was bigger than 
anticipated and parking was a major concern, as it was not possible to envisage at this point how that could 
be attenuated or extended. 
 
Suffolk Wildlife Trust 
The application site is partly within the Stour Estuary which is designated as part of the Stour and Orwell 
Estuaries Special Protection Area (SPA), Stour and Orwell Estuaries Ramsar site and the Stour Estuary 
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), however as both Natural England and the ecology team from 
Essex Place Services are advising you on this matter we are happy to defer comments to them on this 
occasion. 
 

  

Page 6



 

 

Ecology - Place Services - Initial comments: 
 
Holding objection - insufficient information to support HRA Screening report for likely significant effects on 
the Stour and Orwell Estuaries SSSI and SPA/Ramsar. 
 
Ecology - Place Services – Subsequent comments: 
No objection subject to; 
 
a) Natural England being satisfied with the HRA Appropriate Assessment prepared by the LPA for likely 
significant effects on the Stour and Orwell Estuaries SSSI and SPA/Ramsar 
b) Securing ecological mitigation and enhancement. 
 
Natural England – Initial comments: 
There is insufficient information to enable Natural England to provide a substantive response to this 
consultation as required under the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015. Please provide the information listed and re-consult Natural England. Please note 
that you are required to provide a further 21 day consultation period, once this information is received by 
Natural England, for us to respond.  
 
Natural England – Subsequent comments: 
Objection withdrawn. 
 
Following receipt of further information on 24/05/2018, Natural England is satisfied that the specific issues 
we have raised in previous correspondence relating to this development have been resolved. However, 
this is subject to a satisfactory appropriate assessment being provided by Place Services.  
 
We therefore consider that the identified impacts on Stour and Orwell Estuaries SPA/Ramsar site and Stour 
Estuary SSSI can be appropriately mitigated with measures secured via planning conditions or obligations 
as advised and withdraw our objection. We agree with the conditions suggested by Place Services in their 
letter dated 07/06/2018. 
 
The Environment Agency - Initial comments: 
 
The Environment Agency have inspected the application, as submitted, and are raising a holding objection 
as they do not have sufficient information to assess the impact on designated sites. Advice on flood risk is 
also offered. 
 
The Environment Agency – Subsequent comments: 
Have reviewed the Ecological Impact Assessment and Mitigation Strategy prepared by Geosphere (May 
2018) and have removed their holding objection as they are satisfied that most of the impacts on the 
designated sites are being considered. 
 
The applicant states that the Stour Estuary SSSI and Stour and Orwell Estuaries SPA/Ramsar is 'adjacent' 
to the development site, however the largest new building is actually proposed to be built over the footprint 
of part of these designated sites. This would constitute a permanent shading impact of a small proportion 
of the site which doesn't yet appear to have been assessed. 
 
The decision over the Appropriate Assessment is not one which the EA will be leading on but are satisfied 
that one is being carried out and being submitted to Natural England. 
 
Wish to see the mitigation proposed (including timing of construction works) and enhancements suggested 
such as a 'green roof' become required conditions in any Planning Permission granted in order to make 
this proposed development as ecologically friendly as possible in this sensitive location. 
 

Page 7



 

 

SCC - Highways 
The current proposal would not have any severe impact on the highway network in terms of vehicle volume 
or highway safety. Therefore, Suffolk County Council does not wish to restrict the grant of permission. 
 
Economic Development & Tourism 
No objection. 
 
Heritage Team 
The Heritage Team has no comments to provide on the application. 
 
SCC - Archaeological Service 
No comment received, the consultation period has now expired. 
 
Suffolk Coasts & Heaths Project 
Shotley Pier lies outside but adjacent to the Suffolk Coast & Heaths Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB). At its closest point the Pier is located approximately 750m east of the current AONB boundary 
and is therefore considered to be located within the setting of this nationally designated landscape.  
 
The length of the proposed buildings is noted. Shotley Pier is a historic feature in the area and it’s 
significance as a local landmark is recognised. Views across the estuary from Bristol Hill/King Edward VII 
Drive are presently uninterrupted by development and therefore it is important that any built structures 
introduced to the area contribute to the enhancement of the character of the area.  
 
Paragraph 2.3.7 of the Suffolk Coast & Heaths AONB Management Plan recognises open and extensive 
views as one of the special qualities of the AONB. When determining this application, the LPA should be 
satisfied that the potential impact of the proposed new buildings on the character of the area have been 
fully considered.  
 
The boundary of the Suffolk Coast & Heaths AONB is currently subject to review by Natural England. If this 
extension area is approved by the Secretary of State, Shotley Pier will fall just within the Suffolk Coast & 
Heaths AONB boundary. We would therefore recommend that a precautionary approach is adopted when 
determining this application.  
 
Health & Safety Executive 
No comment received, consultation period has now expired. 
 
B: Representations 
 
Support the renovation of the Pier to the 'Victorian pier status'. Do not support the huge buildings proposed 
for the 1st part of the pier. The scale is out of all proportion with the existing surroundings and structure. 
The Shotley Pier charity was set up to renovate the Victorian pier, but this proposal, if allowed, will 
permanently change the aesthetics of both the pier and the Shotley waterfront for the worse.  
 
The DAS has not provided any appraisal of the demand for the buildings or how it is affected by other 
developments. The development at Ganges includes buildings for commercial usage and economic 
viability is essential for the success of this key brownfield site, particularly if important heritage assets are 
to be protected. 
 
The view of the river will be severely restricted for the Sailing club and the Bristol arms and Tea shop. The 
scale and size of the development proposed will destroy the unique beauty of Shotley Gate. Visitors and 
users of the area experience a broad sweep of views across the Stour Estuary and westward along it. 
There is a sense of openness to the area in contrast to the port activity on the other side. The buildings at 
the size proposed would enclose and constrain the scene. 

Page 8



 

 

This is a substantial change to the character of the area and loss of visual amenity to other users such as 
customers of the Bristol Arms, users of the sailing club as well as those who use the footpaths or simply 
park to watch the scene. The DAS shows photographs of the area, but no photomontages have been 
produced to demonstrate the significance of the effects, nor reference to the landscape character of the 
area. There is no reference in the Statement of the Joint Babergh & Mid Suffolk District Council Landscape 
Guidance 2015. 
 
The applicant has not provided evidence to show that the effects have been adequately considered nor 
given the decision makers sufficient information to demonstrate that the development will not cause harm 
and is sustainable development as defined by the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Restaurant is not needed as there is not enough custom for the other 4 eateries over the winter months, 
will affect existing businesses. This is a vehicle for planning for a restaurant instead of for a facility for 
everyone to enjoy, be they residents or visitors 
 
Insufficient parking, where will the visitors park. Impact of the proposed development on local traffic and 
parking has not been considered. Parking at the sailing club is already at a premium, this proposal will only 
make the situation worse, furthermore members of the club regularly tow their boats along the road with 
extra traffic and pedestrians these manoeuvres would become more dangerous. There are limited parking 
spaces already, visitors to the area park on Bristol Hill and the less sensible drivers obstruct access to 
property. 
 
Impact on the safety of sailors/ junior sailors as the Sailing Club must be able to view the members on the 
river but this development would block the required view from the safety officer and race officials. The DAS 
has not considered the effects on the users of the area or how effects might be mitigated. 
 
The Pier should be restored to its original glory as a Victorian Pier not create a commercial enterprise using 
charitable funds for monetary gains. As a share-holder this was not what I signed up for. I expected the 
restoration would be in keeping with the original pier and not on the scale put forward. I also expected the 
share-holders to be involved in the planning before it was put before the council. 
 
The amount of available space that will be required for the construction site should be considered. There 
is no space in front of the pier, and it cannot be cordoned off without affecting the access to queen Victoria 
drive. 
 
Potentially negative impact on the environment from additional vehicles, noise and refuse. 
 
 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
1. The Site and Surroundings 
 
1.1. The Pier is located off Queen Victoria Drive to the south end of the B1456 Bristol Hill. To the north, 

facing the Pier is The Bristol Arms Public House and Shotley Sailing Club. There are designated 
public car parking spaces either side of the Pier on Queen Victoria Drive. The Pier extends out into 
the Stour estuary from the sea wall by approximately 180 metres. 
 

1.2. The site is located within the countryside for the purposes of the Development Plan; it is also 
adjacent to, (and within the consultation zone for), a Site of Special Scientific Interest. It also abuts 
the RAMSAR site and is within a Special Protection Area. The pier is outside the Shotley Gate 
Conservation Area and the designated Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Special Landscape 
Area. 

Page 9



 

 

 

1.3. The safety zone (explosives) for Felixstowe includes this site and the initial section (northern extent) 
of the pier is within Flood Zones 2 and 3, and it is also within an archaeological buffer zone. 
 

1.4. Historically, the site has been used as an estuary Pier giving pedestrian access to commercial and 
leisure marine craft. Formerly, a kiosk for the sale of fish stood at the entrance to the Pier, this has 
now been demolished. 

 
2. The Proposal 
 
2.1. The proposal is to provide 2 no. buildings of approximately 40sqm and 150sqm in floor area atop 

the existing pier to support the renovation of the pier structure as a community/charity project. The 
buildings will be mono-pitched single-storey structures situated to either side of the existing pier. 
The buildings will be sited on a new platform structure with a raised height of approximately 500mm 
above the existing pier. The raised deck provides a platform for the building structures and forms 
an external seating deck area. These deck areas will be either side of the 3-metre-wide access of 
Shotley Pier. The maximum height of the buildings above the pier will be 4.5 metres. 
 

2.2. The larger of the two buildings will be located on the western side of the pier and will be 27.5 metres 
long and approx 5 metres wide, situated on a new platform that is 42.1 metres long by 7.4 metres 
wide. This larger building will accommodate the Visitor Centre including WC facilities, office, kitchen, 
servery and seating area. The proposed hours of operation are between 8am and 8pm Mondays to 
Saturdays and from 10am to 4pm on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 
 

2.3. The smaller of the two buildings will be located on the eastern side of the pier and will be 10 metres 
long and 4 metres wide, situated on a new platform that is 19 metres long by 7 metres wide. This 
smaller building will accommodate an office, store and maintenance workshop facility for the use 
by volunteers carrying out repairs to the pier. 

 
2.4. The submitted Design & Access Statement (D&A) explains: Shotley Charitable Community Heritage 

Society Ltd purchased the pier in 2017. It is proposed to provide two new buildings on the site: the 
first being a visitor centre with café, the second being a workshop facility required for the on-going 
maintenance and restoration of the pier.  
 

2.5. The D&A also explains that: The long-term use of the Pier for access to marine craft will not change. 
The proposed kiosk buildings will provide 2 no. units for Class D1 with community use. The facilities 
will also benefit from the tourist trade and the attraction of Shotley as a destination to view the 
Orwell and Stour Estuaries and the Felixstowe and Harwich Ports. The foot ferry currently operates 
from Shotley Marina but early discussions have taken place to relocate the foot ferry to Shotley Pier 
when it has been fully restored. 
 

2.6. In terms of flood risk mitigation, the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) states: ‘The subject 
site forms part of the tidal foreshore of the River Stour and as such is subject to flooding 
approximately twice per day, approaching high tide. The site is also recorded as being partially 
vulnerable to surface water flooding, associated with runoff from the north, and groundwater 
flooding’. Based on the above, the application proposes raising the pier structure above maximum 
flood levels, which represents a 1 in 200 (20%) flood event. A level of 3.96mAOD has been provided 
by the Environment Agency for such an event and the level of the pier is therefore set above this 
level, ensuring safe access/egress will be available at all times. However, when considering a 
climate change event, with modelled flood levels of up to 4.96mAOD, the area will be subject to 
flood warnings, allowing the pier to be safely closed to public access prior to a flood event.  
 

Page 10



 

 

The Submitted FRA recommends that relevant stakeholders sign up to the Environment Agency’s 
‘Flood Warning Information Service’ and that a plan is put in place to ensure that this can be 
undertaken whenever necessary. The FRA concludes that the proposed development is not 
considered likely to have a negative impact on flooding either on site or further downstream. 

 
3. The Principle of Development 
 
3.1.  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2018) contains the Government’s planning 

policies for England and sets out how these are expected to be applied. Planning law continues to 
require that applications for planning permission are determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policies contained within 
the NPPF are a material consideration and should be taken into account for decision-making 
purposes.  

 
3.2. Paragraph 83 supports a prosperous rural economy and states ‘planning policies and decisions 

should enable, inter alia, the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural 
areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings; sustainable 
rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character of the countryside; and the 
retention and development of accessible local services and community facilities, such as local 
shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and places of 
worship’. 

 
3.3. Paragraph 84 goes on to explain that ‘planning policies and decisions should recognise that sites 

to meet local business and community needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or 
beyond existing settlements, and in locations that are not well served by public transport. In these 
circumstances it will be important to ensure that development is sensitive to its surroundings, does 
not have an unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits any opportunities to make a location 
more sustainable’. 

 
3.4. In general terms, sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise in rural 

areas is supported and this theme is echoed in Core Strategy Policies CS15 and CS17. Policy 
CS15 outlines a number of qualifying criteria for the implementation of sustainable development 
and Policy CS17 explains that coastal villages such as Chelmondiston and Shotley play an 
important role in tourism and leisure within the district, and encourages sustainable tourism and 
leisure based businesses, including those offering a diverse range of visitor accommodation, 
activities or experiences. 

 
3.5. Saved Policy RE06 states small or medium-scale proposals for recreation facilities and change of 

use to recreation in the countryside may be acceptable, subject to no adverse impact on (inter alia): 
the character of the locality; road safety; landscape character and biodiversity or residential 
amenity. Policy RE06 further explains recreational uses and facilities will not be permitted if they 
introduce new buildings, structures or landscape features which would detract from the character 
of that particular tract of countryside or which would detract from residential amenity, the quiet 
enjoyment of other users of the countryside and any buildings and structures should be directly 
related to the proposed recreational use of the land. 

 
3.6. Saved Policy RE14 states that “Water-based and associated land-based facilities of an appropriate 

scale will only be permitted on the Stour and Orwell estuaries where these are compatible with 
landscape characteristics, biodiversity, agriculture, access and river safety constraints. A 
sustainable development approach will be of the utmost importance on both estuaries.” 

 
3.7. Saved Policy EM20 supports proposals for the expansion or extension of an existing employment 

site or premises, provided there is no material conflict with residential and environmental amenity 
or highway safety. 

Page 11



 

 

 
3.8. Historically, the pier provided pedestrian access to commercial and leisure marine craft and an 

employment/business use formerly stood at the pier entrance. The pier therefore benefits from a 
mixed use incorporating both commercial and leisure elements. The application proposal will 
provide community volunteer and visitor facilities with a café and external decked/viewing area. The 
workshop is required to provide facilities for volunteers to carry out the necessary repairs to the 
pier. The proposal is therefore considered, in principle, to be an appropriate leisure based use in 
this rural location, which also offers a community benefit in terms of the renovation of the pier.   

 
3.9. Material to the consideration of the current application is the grant of planning permission under Ref 

B/13/00234 for the construction of two kiosk buildings for use as a Class A1 shop, Class A3 cafe 
or Class A5 takeaway uses together with an enlarged timber deck on the pier however, that 
permission was not implemented and has now lapsed and is therefore afforded a very limited 
weight. The principle of a café/takeaway use on the pier has therefore previously been considered 
acceptable but no fall-back position is available to the applicant. The use of current proposal differs 
from that previously approved as the café use applied for is within the proposed visitor centre and 
is therefore integral and ancillary to the main use of the site as a community/volunteer and visitor 
facility; it has therefore been treated on its own merits for the purposes of this report. 

 
3.10. The previous approval comprised two contemporary styled buildings of equal size situated either 

side of the existing 3 metre wide pier, each measuring approximately 3 metres wide by 10 metres 
long and with a combined floor area of 61.3 square metres. The previous approval also included 
the widening of the existing pier to approximately 13.5 metres for the first 27 metres of its length, 
albeit of a tapering design. A servery and seating area was proposed within each building along 
with associated external seating on the enlarged pier deck.   

 
3.11. The physical form of the current application proposal differs from that previously permitted in so far 

as the maintenance workshop proposed to be situated on the eastern side is one metre wider than 
that approved before whilst the proposed Visitor Centre on the western side is two metres wider 
and 17 metres longer. Although configured differently, the external seating area currently proposed 
is of a similar size to the total of the two areas previously approved.  

 
3.12. The material physical difference between the previously approved scheme and the current proposal 

is therefore the length of the Visitor Centre building, which at 17 metres longer extends further along 
the length of the 180 meters pier however, as the previously approved kiosk building was to be 
situated some 3.5 metres further back from the entrance to the pier than the current proposal, the 
current proposal actually extends about 13.5 metres beyond that approved before. This additional 
length of built form is not however, considered to materially harm the character of the pier itself or 
its setting within the landscape given that the proposed building will occupy the front fifth of the pier 
structure only, the length of open pier remaining beyond the building and the overall width and scale 
of the Stour Estuary at this point. 

 
 
4. Site Access, Parking and Highway Safety Considerations 
 
4.1.  Public parking spaces are available on Queen Victoria Drive adjacent to Shotley Pier. There will be 

no vehicular access onto the Pier itself. There is a public footpath that passes adjacent to the Pier. 
 
4.2. The County Council as Highway Authority have reviewed the application and do not wish to restrict 

the grant of permission as the proposal is not considered to have any severe or unacceptable 
impact on the highway network in terms of vehicle volume or highway safety.  

 
  

Page 12



 

 

5. Design and Layout  
 
5.1. Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that the creation of high quality buildings and places is 

fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities. Paragraph 127 explains that planning policies and 
decisions should ensure that developments; will add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime 
of the development; are visually attractive and sympathetic to local character, history and landscape 
setting; and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 
well-being. 

 
5.2. At a local level, policy CS15 requires that proposals for development must respect the local context 

and character of the different parts of the district and should (inter alia): make a positive contribution 
to the local character, shape and scale of the area. Policy CN01 requires all new development 
proposals to be of appropriate scale, form, detailed design and construction materials for the 
location. 

 
5.3. The buildings will be clad in horizontal and vertical larch or cedar natural boarding. The glazed 

screen and doors will be powder coated aluminium, sliding timber security panels will be provided. 
The roof will be a standing seam composite roof sheet coloured grey. The buildings will have vaulted 
roof forms with brise soleil over high level glazing. Photo voltaic panels are proposed to be used on 
the inward facing roof slopes. The design and layout is considered appropriate for its context and 
location and the development does not detract from the character of the surrounding countryside is 
therefore considered to accord to the design principles of the NPPF, and to policies CS15, CN01 
and RE06 of the development plan. 

 . 
5.4. Para 6.3 of the submitted Ecological Impact Assessment and Mitigation Strategy suggests the 

provision of a ‘green roof’ would provide additional habitat for seabirds however, the applicant’s 
agent has confirmed that a ‘green roof’ will not be incorporated as it would prohibit the use of PV 
panels on the scheme and therefore decrease its environmental sustainability.  

 
6. Landscape Impact, Ecology, Biodiversity and Protected Species 

 
6.1.  Paragraph 170 of the NPPF explains that planning policies and decisions should contribute to and 

enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes and 
sites of biodiversity value; recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside; 
maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving public access to it where 
appropriate and minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity. 

 
6.2. The application site is not within the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty or the Special Landscape 

Area and the pier itself is an existing landscape feature. A small dilapidated fish kiosk was formerly 
stationed at the entrance of the pier and its removal has improved the visual appearance of the 
locality.   

 
6.3. A Habitats Regulations Assessment Appropriate Assessment has been prepared for the 

development to enable the Local Planning Authority to comply with Regulation 63 of The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 
6.4. The range of potential impacts on the Stour and Orwell Estuaries Special Protection Areas (SPA) 

/Ramsar site and various mitigation measures have been considered and assessed. The mitigation 
package includes a Construction Method Statement, to be secured by condition, with a restriction 
on timing of construction, avoiding Nov-Feb inclusive and some works limited to ebb or low tide. 
There will be a requirement to implement the detailed piling and deck installation method statement 
when approved.  

Page 13



 

 

 This may also include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological 
clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during construction. The appointed 
person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 
6.5. A further planning condition will also be imposed – if Members are minded to grant planning 

permission – to secure provision of a visitor information board to ensure that implementation of the 
development avoids a likely significant effect on the Stour and Orwell Estuaries SPAs/Ramsar site. 
This therefore demonstrates Babergh District Council’s compliance with the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.  

 
6.6. Natural England have confirmed that based on the information provided in the Habitats Regulations 

Assessment (HRA, the proposal is unlikely to lead to adverse effects on the integrity of the Stour 
and Orwell Estuaries Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site. Natural England also 
consider that the proposal is unlikely to adversely affect the Stour Estuary Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI) and therefore have no objections, subject to the inclusion of planning conditions to 
secure the mitigation measures outlined in the HRA. 

 
6.7. It is therefore concluded that, provided the mitigation proposals described above are implemented 

in their entirety, this project will have no adverse effects on site integrity for the Stour and Orwell 
Estuaries SPA/Ramsar sites, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects. 

 
7. Flood Risk 
 
7.1.  Sequential and Exceptions Test 
 
7.2. Environment Agency maps show the site (at its northern extent) lies within tidal Flood Zone 3, 

defined by the ‘Planning Practice Guidance: Flood Risk and Coastal Change’ as having a high 
probability of flooding. The proposal is for alterations to the Pier including provision of two buildings 
for a Community/Volunteer facility, which is classified as a ‘less vulnerable’ development, as defined 
in Table 2: Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification of the Planning Practice Guidance. Therefore, to 
comply with national policy the application is required to pass both parts of the Sequential Test and 
be supported by a site specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). 

 
7.3. The NPPF indicates that, in determining planning applications, local planning authorities should 

ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Development in areas at risk of flooding should 
only be considered where, informed by a site-specific flood risk assessment (FRA) following the 
Sequential Test (and if required the Exception Test), it can be demonstrated (inter alia) that the 
development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient; any residual risk can be safely managed; 
and safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed 
emergency plan. 

 
7.4. National planning guidance offers advice in the application of the Sequential Test to individual 

planning applications; it suggests that for individual planning applications where there has been no 
sequential testing of the allocations in the development plan, or where the use of the site being 
proposed is not in accordance with the development plan, the area to apply the Sequential Test 
across will be defined by local circumstances relating to the catchment area for the type of 
development proposed. The guidance also suggests that when applying the Sequential Test, a 
pragmatic approach on the availability of alternatives should be taken. For example, the guidance 
explains that when considering planning applications for extensions to existing business premises 
it might be impractical to suggest that there are more suitable alternative locations for that 
development elsewhere.  

 
  

Page 14



 

 

7.5. Sequential Test: 
 

Part one – Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing 
development away from areas at highest risk (whether existing or future): 
The application proposal is somewhat unique as it seeks permission for development that will be 
situated on top of the pier structure that the community/charity is seeking to renovate. Because the 
proposed development and the pier renovation project are inextricably linked, and on taking the 
pragmatic approach advocated in the planning guidance, it is evident that the development is 
required to be in very close proximity of the pier itself and therefore a limited catchment for 
alternative sites is appropriate and in this instance, there are no more suitable alternative sites 
available with a lesser flood risk in the immediate vicinity of the site.  

 
7.6. Part two – Where development is necessary in such areas, the development should be made safe 

for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere: 
The Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) submitted with the application explains that the site is located 
within Flood Zone 3 for tidal flooding and that a limited risk also exists for flooding by groundwater 
and surface water.  

 
7.7. It further explains that a modelled flood level of 3.96mAOD has been provided by the Environment 

Agency for a 1 in 200 year design event and therefore it is proposed that the level of the pier will be 
set above this level and that for more extreme flood events, and when considering climate change 
events, a plan should be put into place to ensure that the pier is closed to access prior to any 
extreme flood event, upon receipt of a flood warning from the Environment Agency’s ‘Flood Warning 
Information Service’. 

 
7.8. The FRA concludes that the proposed development is not considered likely to have a negative 

impact on flooding either on site or further downstream. The Submitted Design and Access 
statement further comments that the buildings will be set at a higher level than the Queen Victoria 
Drive which provides access to the Sailing Club, Shotley Lodge and Shotley Marina and that the 
buildings are not domestic and will not be opened where extreme tides are forecast. 

 
7.9. The Environment Agency (EA) consultation response advises that the Agency has no objection to 

this planning application on flood risk grounds, providing that flood risk considerations have been 
taken in to account, which is the responsibility of the LPA. To assist the LPA in making an informed 
decision about flood risk, the EA has identified the following key points from the submitted FRA:  

 
Actual Risk  

 The site lies within the flood extent for a 0.5% (1 in 200) annual probability event, including an 
allowance for climate change.  

 

 The site does benefit from the presence of defences.  The defences are below the 0.5% (1 in 200) 
annual probability flood level including climate change and therefore the site is at actual risk of 
flooding in this event. The pier is in fact in front of the line of defence, and therefore they provide no 
benefit to the pier.  

 

 The level of the pier has been proposed at 3.96m AOD. This is raised from the existing pier of 
approximately 3.5-3.6m AOD, but this is below the 0.5% (1 in 200) annual probability flood level 
including climate change of 4.96m AOD and therefore at risk of flooding by 1m depth in this event.  

 

 In order for the pier to be sustainable in the future we advise that the level of the pier is raised to 
the 0.5% (1 in 200) annual probability flood level with climate change, to a level of 4.96m AOD  

 

 Flood resilience/resistance measures have not been proposed  

Page 15



 

 

 

 Floor levels of the pier have been proposed at 3.96m AOD and therefore there is not refuge above 
the 0.1% (1 in 1000) annual probability flood level. However, it is expected that the pier would not 
be accessible and be shut upon receipt of a flood warning and prior to any flooding affecting the 
area.  

 

 The site level on the access road Queen Victoria Drive is 3.5m AOD and therefore flood depths 
along the access/egress route are 1.46m in the 0.5% (1 in 200) annual probability flood event 
including climate change.  

 

 Therefore assuming a velocity of 0.5m/s the flood hazard is: A danger to most people (e.g. there 
will be danger of loss of life for the general public) in the 0.5% (1 in 200) annual probability flood 
event including climate change.  

 

 Therefore this proposal does not have a safe means of access in the event of flooding from all new 
buildings to an area wholly outside the floodplain (up to a 0.5% (1 in 200) annual probability 
including climate change flood event). We have no objections to the proposed development on flood 
risk access safety grounds because a Flood Plan is proposed by the applicant, as detailed in 
Section 6 of the FRA and in the conclusion states “a plan should be put into place to ensure that 
the pier is closed to access prior to any extreme flood event, upon receipt of a flood warning from 
the Environment Agency’s ‘Flood Warning Information Service’.” However, you should determine 
its adequacy to ensure the safety of the occupants  

 

 Compensatory storage is not required.  
 
7.10. In response to the above, officers consider that it would be inappropriate to raise the level of the 

pier by 1 metre to sit at the 0.5% (1 in 200) annual probability flood level (with climate change) as 
the pier is an existing structure that extends to 180m in length. Flood resilience/resistance measures 
such adopting a water entry strategy, appropriate construction materials and positioning services 
and fittings above the predicted 1 in 200yr flood level within the building can be secured by 
condition. With regard to a safe means of access in the event of a flood it is important to note that 
the EA do not object on  flood risk access safety grounds as the application proposes a  Flood Plan, 
which includes the closure of the development prior to a flood event and which can be secured by 
condition. 

 
7.11. In view of the above, it is therefore considered that  the Sequential Test for other available properties 

and sites at a lower risk of flooding has been adequately made, and that the proposal would be safe 
for its lifetime and would be appropriately flood resilient and resistant. It is therefore considered that 
the proposed development would not conflict with the Framework, and is in any event acceptable 
in terms of flood risk and mitigation. 

 
7.12. Exception Test: 
 

The development is classified as ‘less vulnerable’ development by national guidance and is also 
classed as ‘appropriate development’ using the flood risk vulnerability and flood zone compatibility 
table. Therefore the exception test is not required for the development. 

 
  

Page 16



 

 

8. Heritage Issues [Including the Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Conservation Area 
and on the Setting of Neighbouring Listed Buildings] 
 
8.1.  The Shotley Gate Conservation Area is centred on HMS Ganges to the north east of the application 

site and the main interest for the conservation area is its four listed ‘buildings’. These comprise the 
set of gates, piers, railings and lamp standards at the entrance to HMS Ganges along with its 
ceremonial mast and two Martello Towers within the grounds. HMS Ganges is positioned above 
the cliffs and is therefore at a higher level than the application site.  

 Given the intervening distance and the change in levels it is considered that there is no adverse 
effect on designated heritage assets and that their significance would be preserved. 

 
9. Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
9.1.  The development is considered to be sufficiently distant form residential properties in the vicinity of 

the site to not materially impact on residential. The proposed hours of use are also considered 
reasonable.   

 
10. Applicant’s response to Representations received. 
 
 The applicant has sought to address the comments received during the consultation period as 

below; 
 
10.1. The proposal is for a volunteer / visitor centre, not an 84-seater restaurant. Consideration was given 

to a traditional timber structure, but with the completion of the Marina Flats on King Edward IV Way 
and the impending modernistic development on the former boatyard site it was decided that a 
contemporary design would be more in keeping with the evolving foreshore development. 
The proposed height of the volunteer / visitor centre is no higher than that previously approved. 

 
10.2. Criticism has been made as to the length of the building. It is proposed that the volunteer /visitor 

centre should be a community building which will have to provide space for displays of historic 
artefacts and pictures, hold community events such as history research, painting and photographic 
groups as well as provide welfare facilities for the volunteers. The length of the building is thus 
dictated by its function. 

 
10.3. The building protrudes approximately 30 metres from the shore and there will be some 150 metres 

of original pier showing in elevation beyond the seaward end of the volunteer I visitor centre. It 
should be noted that the pier was originally built as a railway pier for the transfer of mail. 

 
10.4. Both the volunteer / visitor centre and the workshop are to be built adjacent to the pier with the only 

alteration to the pier being to raise the deck to provide ramps for disabled access to the two 
buildings. After the ramps there will be 150 metres of pier remaining for promenading, crabbing and 
the like. The new buildings have higher floor levels than the existing pier deck because of flood risk 
considerations. 

 
10.5. The development under construction on the old boatyard site will change the nature of the 

foreshore. However, the proposed volunteer / visitor centre and workshop will not protrude as far 
across the foreshore as this residential development. The volunteer / visitor centre is also 
considerably lower in height than the lowest building in that development such that the proposed 
development will not significantly adversely alter the ambiance of the foreshore. 

 
  

Page 17



 

 

10.6. An abstract from the Admiralty Chart has been submitted to demonstrate that the pier volunteer / 
visitor centre will not obstruct the view of water-borne craft on the main river from of the Sailing 
Club's Starting Box. The only area of obstruction to visibility caused by the proposed volunteer / 
visitor Centre is that of the immediate foreshore adjacent to the cliff. Sailing dinghies could only 
venture into this area half an hour each side of high water because the necessary depth of water 
to float is only available during this period. 

 
10.7. A Land Registry Title plan has been submitted to show that the volunteer / visitor centre does not 

encroach onto land owned by Shotley Marina.   
 
10.8. It is not the Society's intention for the foot ferry to permanently relocate to the pier. If requested at 

a later stage, then additional ferry calls together with river trips from the pier could be made subject 
to the necessary facilities being provided. 

 
10.9. The proposed development includes a workshop, not because it wishes to compete with the former 

boatyard development, but because it will need a workshop to train timbermen volunteers to 
renovate and maintain the pier into the future. The workshop has been sized to take the longest 
practical timber member which might need to be worked upon. 

 
10.10. For easy reference the development proposed has a foot print of 444m2 of which buildings cover 

192m2 (Workshop of 42sqm with platform area 133sqm; Volunteer/Visitor Centre of 150sqm with 

platform area 311sqm). 

10.11. Reference is made to a "84-seater restaurant".  This is because the submitted drawing shows as 

many tables and chairs as could be accommodated on the platform and in the activity room of the 

volunteer/visitor centre. However, the proposed galley is only 3m by 3m which will be adequate for 

the purpose intended, which is to provide refreshments for the volunteers and visitors. 

 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
11. Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
11.1.  The principle of renovating the existing pier and bringing it back into an appropriate use is 

supported. The proposed volunteer and visitor centre is a community-led project that will offer 
combined opportunities for recreation, leisure and community facilities for the wider benefit of the 
area whilst also supporting the on-going repair and maintenance of the pier structure itself, which 
is an established feature within the landscape.  

 
11.2. A contemporary design approach incorporating the use of traditional materials is supported in this 

location given the range of built forms in the vicinity and the non-designated status of the landscape. 
The scale, design and layout of the proposed development is considered appropriate for its context 
and the development does not detract from the character of the surrounding countryside is therefore 
considered acceptable. 

 
11.3. The proposal, subject to the suggested conditions, satisfactorily mitigates flood risk and ecological 

impacts in this environmentally sensitive area.  
 
11.4. The current proposal represents sustainable development that accords with the development plan 

and should be granted without delay, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The application is therefore recommended for approval. 

 

Page 18



 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That authority be delegated to Corporate Manager – Growth and Sustainable Planning to grant planning 
permission subject to conditions including: 
 

 Standard Time Limit 

 Approved Plans and Documents 

 As per Ecological Impact Assessment 

 Agreement of Construction Method Statement 

 Agreement of External Lighting 

 Agreement of Materials  

 Restriction on Use – Class D1 

 Agreement of Extraction/Ventilation Equipment 

 Restriction on Hours of Operation. 

 As per Flood Risk Assessment 

 Agreement of flood resistance/resilience measures 

 Visitor Information Board  
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Application No: DC/18/01384 

Parish: Shotley 

Location: Shotley Pier, Queen Victoria Drive 

 

 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Committee Report   

Ward: Mid Samford 

Ward Members: Cllr Sue Carpendale and Cllr Fenella Swan 

    

 

RECOMMENDATION – GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION WITH CONDITIONS 

 

 

Description of Development 

Application for replacement church building with multi-functional use spaces for church groups and the 

community, a commercial kitchen, office, plant, WC and storage. The first floor will include the main worship 

space, a secondary kitchen, meeting, WC and storage spaces. 

 

Location 

The Street, Capel St Mary Ipswich Suffolk IP9 2EQ 

 

Parish:  Capel St Mary 

Expiry Date: 18/04/18 

Application Type: Full planning application 

Development Type: Minor Development 

Applicant: Revd Andrew Sankey 

Agent: Archangel Ltd 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to Committee for the following reason: 
 
The application was referred to the Delegation Panel at the request of a Ward Member, Cllr Carpendale. 
The Panel concluded that the issue of parking associated with the redevelopment of an established chapel 
was an issue and could be repeated elsewhere in the District and raised issues of more than local 
significance. It was also noted that the volume and nature of objections indicated that the application was 
controversial. 
 
Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions and any Member site visit 

 

This application was heard at Babergh Planning Committee on the 16th May 2018 and was fully discussed 

with a resolution of being deferred until further information was made available on issues of daylight loss 

to the neighbour and drawings showing the outline of the existing building to that of the proposed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item No: 2 Reference:  DC/18/00978 
Case Officer:  Samantha Summers 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6b



 

 

 
 

PART TWO – POLICIES AND CONSULTATION SUMMARY  
 

 
Summary of Policies 
 
Babergh Core Strategy (2014): 
• CS1 Applying the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development in Babergh   
• CS2 Settlement Pattern Policy  
• CS3 Strategy for Growth and Development  
• CS12 Sustainable Design and Construction Standards  
• CS15 Implementing Sustainable Development in Babergh  
 
Relevant saved policies of the Babergh Local Plan Alteration No.2 (2006): 
• CN01 Design Standards      
• EN22 Outdoor Lighting  
• TP15 Parking Standards for New Developments 
 
Relevant Supplementary Planning Document: 
• Suffolk Adopted Parking Standards (2015)   
 

NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework (2018) 

 
Consultations and Representations 
 
During the course of the application Consultation and Representations from third parties have been 
received. These are summarised below. 
 
A: Summary of Consultations 
 
Capel St Mary Parish Council 
Recommend refusal primarily due to there being no provision for parking.  Modern design not in keeping 
with village.  Overdevelopment.  Loss of light and overlooking to 48 The Street.  Construction traffic 
dangers.   
 
SCC – Highways 
No objection.   
 
Environmental Health – Land Contamination 
No objection.   
 
Environmental Health – Amenity 
No objection.  Recommend a condition limiting the operating hours of the construction phase of the 
development to 08.00 – 18.00 hours Monday – Friday and 0800 – 13.00 hours Saturdays, with no work to 
take place on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
 
BMSDC Economic Development 
No comment because this is a community project. 
 
B: Representations 
 
Sixteen objections received on the following grounds: 
- loss of historically significant building 

Page 24



 

 

- car parking.  
- loss of privacy, outlook, daylight and sunlight access to neighbouring dwelling 
- impact on the structural integrity of the neighbouring dwelling.  
 
Twelve letters of support.   
 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
1. The Site and Surroundings 
 
1.1.  The application site is located on the northern side of The Street, Capel St Mary.  Immediately to 

the rear of the site is the Village Hall and library.  To the west are residential properties and 
immediately to the east is a car park serving the village hall, children’s play space and open green 
area. A bus stop and telephone booth are located on The Street adjacent the site.  Residential 
development is directly opposite and the post office is diagonally opposite to the south west.   

 
1.2. The site is occupied by the Methodist Church building which is set close to the front boundary.  

There is no car parking on the site.   
 
1.3. The site is not located in, or near to, any Conservation Area.  The nearest listed building is 

approximately 280m to the east (Orchard Cottage, The Street).  The church is not a listed building. 
 
2. The Proposal 
 
2.1.  The proposed development includes the removal of the existing church building (310sqm) and 

replacement with a purpose built, two storey church/community building (583sqm).  The submitted 
Design and Access Statement details the proposed internal layout: 

 
Ground floor: 

 two multi-functional spaces that can be used by the church groups and the community;  

 office spaces;  

 WC (including an accessible WC);  

 the main entrance hall with a sitting area, a tea station and the main stairs and platform lift to 
first floor; 

 a commercial kitchen, the plant and storage spaces.   
 
First floor:  

 the main worship space (current maximum capacity: 222);   

 a secondary kitchen;  

 a prayer/meeting room;  

 an accessible WC; and  

 storage spaces. 
 
2.2.  Proposed finishing materials include brickwork, timber cladding, grey aluminium windows, and 

combination zinc/green roofs.   
 
2.3. Proposed operating hours are 8am – 11pm at all times (including Bank Holidays).  
 
2.4. No on-site parking is proposed, as per the existing arrangement.  The application does not involve 

any tree removal.   
 
2.5.  The site area measures 694sqm.   

Page 25



 

 

 
3. The Principle of Development 
 
3.1.  The applicant undertook pre-application discussions with officers who advised:  

 Engagement with the public is encouraged.  

 Highways: As there is no existing provision for parking on site, the applicant should include 
information on the existing agreements with the local food store and medical practice to use 
their carparks. 

 
3.2. Policy CS3 states that Town Centres and Core Villages are the main focus for retail, leisure and 

community uses in the district.  Capel St Mary is a designated Core Village.  The proposal merely 
seeks to replace an existing community use with the same community use albeit accommodated in 
an updated, purpose built building.  The proposal furthers Policy CS3. 

 
3.3. A core planning principle of the NPPF, a stated at paragraph 8, is the delivery of sufficient 

community and cultural facilities and services to meet local needs. Paragraph 83 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes clear that, in order to support a prosperous rural 
economy, local planning authorities should, amongst other things, promote the retention and 
development of local services and community facilities in villages, such as local shops, meeting 
places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship.  The proposal is 
supported by paragraph 8 and 83 of the NPPF. 

 
3.4. The principle of a replacement community facility at this location is accepted.  Key issues warranting 

close examination are impacts on the existing car parking network, the character and appearance 
of the area and residential amenity. 

 
4. Nearby Services and Connectivity Assessment of Proposal 
 
4.1.  The facility is very well connected to nearby services, sitting adjacent community uses (library and 

village hall) and diagonally opposite the post office.  The site sits amongst the residential part of the 
village, within walking distance for most village users.  The site is in a highly sustainable location.    

 
5. Site Access, Parking and Highway Safety Considerations 
 
5.1.  Vehicle access is not an issue as no vehicle access is proposed. 
 
5.2. Car parking, or lack of it on-site, is the key concern for the Parish Council and objectors to the 

proposal.  The current church operates in the absence of any on-site car parking and therefore in 
this regard there is no change proposed to existing conditions.  The key difference between the 
existing use and proposed use, in car parking terms, is the increase in floor area.  The application 
proposes a net additional gross internal floor space increase of 273sqm, up from the existing 
310sqm. 

 
5.3. The Suffolk Guidance for Parking (2015) requires for places of worship (Class D1) a parking rate 

of one space per 10sqm of public floor area.  Applying this rate equates to an increase in parking 
demand for 28 car spaces.   

 
5.4. However, it is not floor area that matters when it comes to car parking demand for a use of the 

subject nature.  It is the number of patrons utilising the space that is the real car parking generator.  
In this respect there is no change.  The current maximum capacity of the existing community facility 
is 222 patrons.   The applicant confirms that the proposed maximum capacity of the new facility is 
222 patrons.  It can only be concluded that there will be no increase in demand for car parking 
beyond existing conditions, nor will there be any increase in traffic movements beyond the existing 
arrangement.     

Page 26



 

 

 
5.5. During the previous Committee meeting the Parish Council raised the issue of the capacity of the 

building in terms of number of people that could use the building at any one time.  Advice has been 
sought from Building Control on this issue.  The total capacity is decided by the applicant at Building 
Regulation stage, this is for the purposes of Fire Regulations.  The Building Surveyor will then work 
out the floorspace of the building and use a calculation to determine if the fire escapes and space 
of the building can accommodate the number of people stated by the applicant.  It is normal for this 
type of premises to allow 0.75m – 1m square per person.  Only the meeting areas are taken into 
account, in this instance on the ground floor the Hall of 86m2 and the Youth Room of 38m2, the 
first floor Worship Space of 177m2.  This gives a total of 301m2.  Therefore, the total capacity of 
the building could be between 301 – 401 people.  However, the applicant has stated that they do 
not anticipate the number to be more than 222 which is no increase to the existing building.  On 
average the church has between 100-150 people using the building at any one time. 

 
5.6. The issue of policing the number of people in the building was also raised with Building Control, 

and they confirmed that it is the responsibility of the church to ensure that the number of people 
that has been agreed for Fire Regulation purposes is not breached. 

 
5.7. The Highways Authority does not raise an objection regarding traffic or highway safety implications.  

In the absence of a Highways Authority objection, and the fact there is no change in car parking 
demand from the existing conditions, there is no justifiable reason to refuse the application on 
parking or highway grounds.  This, of course, is on the proviso that the maximum patron capacity 
can be limited to 222 by planning condition, which clearly it can be and is a reasonable approach 
to take.  Limiting patron number by planning condition is a commonplace industry practice and is 
considered to meet the ‘condition tests’; it is capable of being constructed in a precise and 
enforceable manner, is reasonable in all respects, and is considered necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms. 

 
5.8. Proposed cycle provision is adequate.   
 
6. Design and Layout  
 
6.1.  The proposed design is overtly modern.  In a location where there is no nearby Conservation Area 

or listed buildings, a contemporary design approach is acceptable.  Moreover, the character of the 
immediately locality is a mixed one, with a range of different styles and building forms, including 
domestic and more utilitarian design approaches.  There are pitched roofs, hipped roofs and flat 
roofs.  In an area of such eclectic mix, a contemporary design approach is appropriate, if not 
expected and encouraged, for a functional building of this nature.  The proposal responds 
favourably to saved Policy CN01 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF 

 
7. Landscape Impact, Trees, Ecology, Biodiversity and Protected Species 

 
7.1.  The application does not result in the removal of trees, there are no impacts on habitats and nor 

does the site contain any ecological value of note.  None of these matters require close attention 
and certainly do not constitute reasons for concern.   The nature of the application and the site 
context is such that referral comments are not warranted from the likes of Council’s ecology 
consultant or arboricultural officer.  

 
8. Land Contamination 
 
8.1.  Environmental Health raise no objection and the standard unexpected contamination note is 

recommended.  
 
 

Page 27



 

 

9. Heritage Issues  
 
9.1.   The proposal will in no way impact the setting or significance of any Conservation Area or listed 

buildings; none are in the vicinity or what is considered to be a sphere of influence from the 
development. 

 
10. Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
10.1.  Paragraph 8 of the NPPF sets out a number of core planning principles as to underpin decision-

taking, including, seeking to secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants 
of land and buildings. 

 
10.2. The residential interface to the immediate western neighbour is a very sensitive one and warrants 

careful consideration.  Quite understandably, the resident of this property, 48 The Street, raises 
amenity concerns. The Parish Council also raises concerns regarding residential amenity 
outcomes. 

 
10.3. The rear private open space of no.48 is highly constrained, of very limited proportions, and so any 

change in neighbouring bulk and scale will have an effect on the amenity enjoyed by the residents 
of no.48.   

 
10.4. Like the existing building, the proposed building is set back from the shared western boundary 

which mitigates the visual impact on the residents of no.48.  It is however noted that the existing 
building, owing to the different roof forms toward the rear of the site, offers less visual bulk than 
what the proposed building will present to no.48.  Part of the existing building presents a gable end 
to no.48, rather than an expanse of flank elevation.   This arrangement of different roof styles, in 
particular the gap between the main roof and the rear pitched roof with gable, offers a good degree 
of visual relief to no.48.  The proposed development offers one continuous expanse of two storey 
flank wall for what is essentially the length of the shared boundary, a significantly poorer visual 
outcome for no.48.   

 
10.5. Moreover, the new building will be brought closer to the shared boundary than the original part of 

the existing church building (not the existing rear extensions).  Reducing the (approximate) gap to 
1.6m between building and boundary at first floor level increases the sense of enclosure on no.48.  
However, the main entrance to the church is located to the side on the boundary with No. 48.  The 
proposed new entrance will be to the front of the building, and therefore reducing noise impact on 
no. 48 from people entering and leaving the church.    

 
10.6. The ridge height of the new building is higher than the ridge height of the existing building, again 

presenting a greater bulk to the outlook of no.48.  The first floor of the western flank wall, unlike the 
proposed eastern flank wall, lacks articulation (large expanse of face brickwork aside from two slit 
windows – although this does offer more privacy in terms of overlooking).  The lack of articulation 
accentuates visual prominence and offers limited visual relief for no.48.  To break this up and give 
relief to the neighbour a green roof is proposed on this roof slope. 

 
10.7. In respect to overlooking, the proposed west facing ground floor windows are not objectionable 

owing to the extent of shared boundary screening.  There are two narrow windows at first floor level 
facing no. 48.  Notwithstanding the current window arrangement in the existing building, it is not 
appropriate for these windows to be sited in the manner proposed without obscure glazing or some 
other window treatment, such as stained glass being provided to a minimum 1700mm above 
finished floor level.  This is because of the proximity of the habitable room windows at no. 48, where 
direct views are promoted between windows as a result of the proposed first floor openings.  This 
matter could be adequately dealt with via planning condition and is not a reason in its own right to 
withhold permission.     

Page 28



 

 

 
10.8. Losses of daylight and sunlight access will not be unacceptable in light of the existing conditions.  

There may be some loss, however any increase in loss will not be to a level that causes serious 
detriment to the amenity of the residents of no.48 that it would be deemed unacceptable.     

 
10.9. The Design and Access Statement contends that ‘the close proximity of the adjacent residential 

property at 48 The Street calls for a considerate design that is respectful to overlooking, acoustic 
separation and visual impact’.   Officers agree.  Officers can see how the design approach is 
respectful and site responsive.    

 
10.10. Additional information has been received since the previous Committee meeting.  This includes a 

Daylight Survey at three-hour intervals for summer and winter.  The drawings show that there is 
some loss of daylight from additional shadowing to the garden and windows of the eastern elevation 
to No. 48 at 9am.  However, the shadow quickly passes and by noon there is no change in 
shadowing.   

 
10.11. The Daylight Study data shows that the average daylight factor for the rear first floor bedroom as 

existing was calculated as 1.76%. With the proposed development in place, the average daylight 
factor was calculated as 1.31%.  The results show that, although there is reduction of the average 
daylight factor, the proposal still allows for more than 1% average daylight factor in the rear first 
floor bedroom. The proposed development is considered to be acceptable as the impact on the rear 
first floor bedroom at No. 48 The Street is above the recommended minimum of 1% as set out by 
the Building Research Establishment (BRE). 

 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
11. Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
11.1.  The principle of replacing and updating an existing community facility with a new purpose built 

facility is accepted.   
 
11.2. A contemporary design approach is supported given the range in building forms found locally.  

There is not a uniform streetscape appearance and this offers flexibility in any design approach.   
  
11.3. The current maximum patron capacity is 222.  The applicant confirms that there will be no increase 

in patron number beyond the existing capacity.  The proposal therefore does not generate an 
increase in parking demand, even though there is an increase in floor area.  There are no grounds 
to refuse the application for traffic or parking reasons.     

 
11.4. The proposal will impact the neighbour at no. 48.  Some parts of the new building would be closer 

to the boundary than the existing, however, the change in location of the entrance will reduce noise 
nuisance from people entering and leaving the site.  The large expanse of building and roof on the 
boundary will be broken up by the introduction of a green roof on the roof slope facing the neighbour 
which will soften the appearance of the building. Overlooking issues from first floor windows can be 
mitigated by condition.  The slight loss of daylight to No.48 at 9am is considered to be acceptable 
as the sun quickly moves around the building. 

 
11.5. No one can deny that an updated, modern purpose built community building will bring significant 

social benefits to the local resident population.  Therefore, this is considered to be a development 
which will encourage community use in a purpose-built building to cater for all age groups which is 
reinforced by two lifts being provided for wheelchair users; it would further the social and economic 
dimensions of sustainability with no unacceptable harm posed in environmental terms. 

Page 29



 

 

 
11.6. There are constraints facing the site, most notably the proximity of the neighbouring dwelling and 

its associated private open space.  The existing building, although mainly single storey, does have 
two storey elements and also has the height of a two-storey building in the main chapel.  The use 
is existing and the proposal will enable the space to be used in a more flexible manor which will 
benefit the wider community who may feel intimidated to use a religious space for community 
activities. 

 
11.7  It complies with the development plan and therefore represents sustainable development where 

there is a presumption in favour of and permission should be granted without delay as this 
proposal does not conflict with the aims of the NPPF. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That authority be delegated to Corporate Manager - Growth and Sustainable Planning to grant planning 
permission subject to conditions including: 
 

 Standard Time Limit 

 Approved Plans and Documents 

 Agreement of Materials 

 Agreement of Brickwork Bond 

 Agreement of Window Treatment to First Floor Windows to Western Elevation 

 Construction Management Plan 

 

 
 

Page 30



Application No: DC/18/00978 

Parish: Capel St Mary 

Location: Methodist Church, The Street 

 

 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Committee Report   

Ward: Sudbury South.   

Ward Members: Cllr Simon Barrett. Cllr Luke Cresswell 

    

 

RECOMMENDATION – GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION WITH CONDITIONS 

 

 

Description of Development 

Planning Application - Erection of two-storey extension to provide two dance studios and single-

storey extension to provide storage. 

Location 

Kingfisher Leisure Centre, Station Road, Sudbury, Suffolk CO10 2SU  

 

Parish: Sudbury   

Expiry Date: 06/08/2018 

Application Type: FUL - Full Planning Application 

Development Type: Minor All Other 

Applicant: Babergh District Council 

Agent: Mr John Edward 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to Committee as the application has been made on behalf of Babergh District 
Council. 
 
Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions and any Member site visit 

 

None 

 
 

PART TWO – POLICIES AND CONSULTATION SUMMARY  
 

 
Summary of Policies 
 
CS01 - Applying the presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development in Babergh 
CS15 - Implementing Sustainable Development 
CN01 - Design Standards 
NPPF (revised 2018) 
 

Consultations and Representations 
 
During the course of the application Consultation and Representations from third parties have been 
received. These are summarised below. 

Item No: 3 Reference: DC/18/02601 
Case Officer: David Gibson 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6c



 

 

 
A: Summary of Consultations 
 
Suffolk County Council Highways: The current perception is that vehicle movements associated with 
the development would not have an adverse effect on the highway network at this location. Therefore, SCC 
does not wish to restrict the grant of permission for DC/18/02601. 
 
Anglian Water: No objection – subject to surface water disposal condition 
 
Environmental Protection: Confirm with respect to noise and other environmental health issues there are 
no adverse comments and no objection to the proposed development. 
 
Economic Development:  The extensions will provide a wider range of facilities for the Leisure Centre, 
both widening its appeal to the local population and aiding the sustainability of the business operating the 
Leisure Centre. 
 
Sudbury Town Council: Approve 
 
B: Representations 
 
None received. 
 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
1. The Site and Surroundings 
 
1.1 The site is located to the south of Sudbury town centre in a predominantly edge of town centre 

retail/commercial area. The Kingfisher Leisure Centre was originally constructed in the mid 1980's. 
A small Crèche extension was added in the mid 1990's and a Soft Play facility in 2011. 

 
1.2 The existing building is positioned on the east side of the site and is orientated on a north-west, south-

east axis.  
 
2. The Proposal 
 
2.1 The proposals include the refurbishment of the existing changing accommodation, the expansion of 

the fitness accommodation to meet present and future anticipated demand and an extension 
[approximately 350sqm GIFA over two floors] which will accommodate two new dance studios and 
the associated connecting corridor [approximately 40sqm GIFA over one floor]. In addition to this a 
further small extension [approximately 7sqm GIFA over one floor] is proposed to upgrade the 
perishable goods storage for the existing café. 

 
3. The Principle of Development 
 
3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) provides that the NPPF does not change the 

statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making.  Proposed 
development that accords with an up-to-date Local Plan should be approved, and proposed 
development that conflicts should be refused unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
3.2 The principle of the development is acceptable in accordance with the policies of the development 

plan.  Planning considerations and other material considerations are detailed where relevant below.    
 

Page 34



 

 

4. Site Access, Parking and Highway Safety Considerations 
 
4.1 The proposal includes the provision of 16 new covered cycle parking bays for staff and visitors and 

4 covered mobility scooter bays. 
   
4.2 The facility is conveniently located to be accessible for: Pedestrians: It is a five-minute walk from the 

town centre. Buses: There is also a bus stop two minutes away. Trains: The railway station is adjacent 
to the site Vehicles: The facility is clearly signposted from all approach roads. The road leading to 
the site is a two-way adopted dead end road leading to the leisure centre, Waitrose and a long stay 
car park. The pay and display car park for the Leisure Centre has over 120 spaces. There is free 
parking for up to 3 hours. Disabled and family spaces are located adjacent to the main entrance. 
Cyclists: There are no dedicated cycle paths which lead directly to the centre; however the site is 
adjacent to Valley Walk an off road cycle and footpath that connects with some of the outlying 
residential areas. 

 
5. Design and Layout [Impact on Street Scene] 
 
5.1 The original leisure centre is constructed from facing brickwork under a reconstituted slate roof. 

Windows, glazed screens and facias are dark brown stained timber. 
 
5.2 The soft play facility is constructed from a rainscreen cladding system in a dark brown wood grain 

finish that reflects the colour of the extensive areas of dark brown glazed screens and joinery of the 
original building over an engineering brick plinth. The café area associated with the soft play facility 
was undertaken in a form, materials and finishes that seamlessly followed the construction of the 
original leisure centre. 

 
5.3 It is proposed to follow this precedent in the current proposals. The new dance studio extension will 

be constructed with a matching rainscreen cladding system over an engineering brick plinth and the 
connecting corridor will be undertaken in a form, materials and finishes that seamlessly follow the 
construction of the original leisure centre. 

 
6. Landscape Impact, Trees, Ecology, Biodiversity and Protected Species 

 
6.1 The building is surrounded on three sides by access routes, car parking and other associated hard 

landscaped areas. No changes are proposed to these areas. To the south and west an external play 
area associated with the soft play facility is enclosed by a close-boarded fence and a picket fence 
facing Friars Meadow.  

 
6.2 Externally, new fire escape footpaths will connect the new works with established fire assembly points 

and a new landscaped area will be added to a currently grassed area of land between the existing 
soft play building and the main entrance. This will accommodate 16 new covered cycle parking bays 
for staff and visitors, 4 covered mobility scooter bays and a seating area. 

 

6.3 At the rear of the site is a mature tree belt which forms a boundary between the town centre and 
Friars Meadow behind. The proposed site of the new dance studios is on an undeveloped and under-
utilised area of land between the leisure centre and the tree belt. While this location is screened from 
the main approach by the bulk of the existing building it also benefits from the attractive views across 
the meadow lands to the south. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 

 

 

 
PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
7. Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
7.1 When taken as a whole and as a matter of planning judgement, the proposal is considered to adhere 

to the development plan and NPPF and therefore can be considered sustainable development. There 
is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. The application is therefore recommended 
for approval. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That authority be delegated to Corporate Manager – Growth and Sustainable Planning to grant planning 
permission subject to conditions including: 
 

 Standard Time Limit (3 years) 

 Approved Plans 

 Surface Water Drainage Strategy 
 
 

Page 36



Application No: DC/18/02601 

Parish: Sudbury 

Location: Kingfisher Leisure Centre, Station Road 

 

 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 PL/18/9 PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE
	6a DC/18/01384 Shotley Pier, Queen Victoria Drive, Shotley
	DC/18/01384 Site plan

	6b DC/18/00978 The Street, Capel St Mary
	DC/18/00978 Site plan

	6c DC/18/02601 Kingfisher Leisure Centre, Station Road, Sudbury
	DC/18/02601 Site plan


